
City of Keene Planning Board 

AGENDA 

Monday, December 22, 2025 6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 

A. AGENDA ITEMS

1) Call to Order – Roll Call

2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – November 24, 2025

3) Adoption of the 2026 Meeting Schedule

4) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals

5) Boundary Line Adjustment:

a) PB-2025-30 – 91 & 105 Maple Ave – Boundary Line Adjustment – Applicant Huntley
Survey & Design, on behalf of owners Cedarcrest and the 1st Baptist Church of Keene,
proposes to transfer ~7.5-ac from the ~21.5-ac lot at 105 Maple Ave (TMP# 227-017-
000) to the ~6.7-ac lot at 91 Maple Ave (TMP# 227-018-000). The 105 Maple Ave
property is in the Low-Density District, and 91 Maple Ave is in the Conservation & Low-
Density Districts.

6) Public Hearings:

a) 31 Robbins Rd (TMP# 558-019-000) – Appeal of Street Access Permit Decision –
Applicant and owner Karin Royce is appealing a decision of the City Engineer to deny
a request for an exception from Sect. 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land Development Code
regarding allowed driveway width. The parcel is 0.41-ac in size and is in the Low-
Density District.

b) PB-2025-31 – 62 Maple Ave – Cheshire Medical Center 2-lot Subdivision – Applicant
Huntley Survey & Design, on behalf of owner Cheshire Medical Center, proposes to
subdivide the ~50-ac lot located at 62 Maple Ave (TMP# 227-006-000) into two lots
~1.3-ac and ~48.6-ac in size. The parcel is in the Industrial Park District.

c) PB-2025-28 – 98 Peg Shop Rd – 2-lot Subdivision – Applicant DiBernardo
Associates, on behalf of owners Mitchell & Erika Greenwald, proposes to subdivide the
~33-ac lot located at 98 Peg Shop Rd (TMP# 232-022-000) into two lots ~28-ac and
~5-ac in size. The property is in the Rural District.

1



d) PB-2025-29 – 454 Elm St – Cottage Court CUP, Surface Water Protection CUP, &
Major Site Plan – Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owners
Paul Chester & Gail Marie Dubriske, proposes to redevelop the property at 454 Elm St
(TMP# 521-004-000) into a Cottage Court Development with 18 single-family
dwellings. A surface water protection CUP is requested for ~1,435-sf of impact within
the 30-foot wetland buffer. The parcel is ~2.3 ac in size and is in the Low-Density
District.

7) Staff Updates

8) New Business

9) Upcoming Dates of Interest
• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – January 12, 6:30 PM
• Planning Board Steering Committee – January 13, 12:00 PM
• Planning Board Site Visit – January 21, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed
• Planning Board Meeting –January 26, 6:30 PM

B. MORE TIME ITEMS

1) Training on Site Development Standards
a) Standards 6 & 7 – Screening & Lighting

C. ADJOURNMENT

2



City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

 3 

 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 

MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 

Monday, November 24 

2025 

6:30 PM Council Chambers, 

            City Hall  8 

Members Present: 

Harold Farrington, Chair 

Councilor Michael Remy 

Armando Rangel 

Ryan Clancy 

Kenneth Kost 

Michael Hoefer, Alternate (voting) 

Joseph Cocivera, Alternate (voting) 

 

Members Not Present: 

Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair  

Mayor Jay V. Kahn  

Sarah Vezzani 

Tammy Adams, Alternate 

Stephon Mehu, Alternate 

 

 

Staff Present: 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 

 

 9 

 10 

I) Call to Order – Roll Call 11 

 12 

Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken. Michael Hoefer 13 

and Joseph Cocivera were invited to join the session as voting members.  14 

 15 

II) Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 27, 2025 16 

 17 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve the October 27, 2025 18 

meeting minutes. The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously 19 

approved. 20 

 21 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 22 

 23 

Chair Farrington stated this is a new, standing agenda item in response to the recent City of 24 

Dover decision issued by the NH Supreme Court.  As a matter of practice, the Board will now 25 

issue a final vote on all conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have 26 

been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 27 

3



 28 

Ms. Brunner stated there were no items ready for final approval. 29 

 30 

IV) Public Hearing: Amendments to the Planning Board Regulations – The Planning 31 

Board proposes to amend its Subdivision Regulations, Site Development Standards, Earth 32 

Excavation Regulations, and Application Procedures in the Land Development Code, including 33 

Sections 20.2, 21.6, 25.3, 25.5, 26.10, 26.12, 26.14 and 26.19. The proposed amendments are 34 

intended to clarify language within the code, correct errors with respect to wording, update 35 

submittal requirements to match current practice, and reflect recent changes to state law 36 

regarding the timeframes for “Active and Substantial Development” and “Substantial 37 

Completion” of subdivision and site plan applications. In addition, the proposed amendments 38 

would modify the Board’s Site Plan Review Thresholds to create new thresholds for commercial 39 

and multifamily street access permits, modify the threshold for new additions, and establish 40 

thresholds for proposals to create new residential dwelling units. 41 

 42 

Ms. Brunner addressed the Board and stated she is going to start the presentation by giving some 43 

context and background about where the land development code came from and what the goals 44 

of that project are. Ms. Brunner stated this project started in 2017 and it was the main 45 

implementation action that came out of the 2010 Master Plan: to review all land development 46 

codes, regulations and zoning and clean them up and locate them in one place. The land 47 

development code the City has today was formally adopted in 2021. 48 

The  tagline of this project was Building Better Together. The project goals were to make the 49 

City’ regulations easier to navigate, reduce confusion, increase efficiency and streamline 50 

wherever possible. Ms. Brunner stated throughout the land development code process, the City 51 

conducted monthly developer round tables and did a lot of one-on-one outreach to developers to 52 

try and understand their main barriers to developing in Keene. The biggest themes that came out 53 

of this process is that anything that increases time, increases cost. More importantly, anything 54 

that increases uncertainty will make or break whether they decide to pursue a project in Keene. 55 

The idea behind the project was to put all regulations into one place, make them easy to navigate, 56 

make the document user-friendly with reference to codes, reduce confusion and help developers 57 

understand exactly what is expected of them. As part of this overall effort, the City also created 58 

the Minor Project Review Committee and raised the thresholds for projects that go to the 59 

Planning Board. 60 

Ms. Brunner noted the Minor Project Review Committee was really intended to be middle tier of 61 

review. Projects that previously went to the Planning Board could theoretically go to this Minor 62 

Project Review Committee and expect a shorter turnaround time, reducing the cost of the project 63 

and incentivizing developers to come up with projects that meet the City’s regulations so that 64 

they can go through this quicker and cheaper process. 65 

However, what is being found is that very few projects are qualifying to go to the Minor Project 66 

Review Committee based on the thresholds that currently exist. Ms. Brunner stated the feedback 67 

staff has received from those that have qualified regarding this Committee has been very 68 

positive.  69 

Ms. Brunner next reviewed the Proposed Amendments. 70 

4



1. Taking the statement that staff found in the Public Improvement Section of the Land 71 

Development Code - Public Works Regulations Article 23. This Article has a requirement for 72 

subdivisions that are not mentioned in the subdivision regulations. The intent here is to build that 73 

connection. 74 

The language says as follows: In accordance with Article 23 of this LDC, the owner/developer 75 

shall provide permanent reference monuments and final subdivision plans shall not be signed 76 

and recorded until after the monuments have been installed by the developer and verified by the 77 

Public Works director, or security in amount deemed satisfactory to the public Works director is 78 

posted, ensuring the monuments will be set  79 

Councilor Remy stated in the interest of simplicity and not having to track this in two locations 80 

at any given time and asked if it should be deleted from Article 23. 81 

Ms. Brunner stated that was a good point and added staff will be bringing a second ordinance 82 

forward to City Council that changes the portions of the LDC that are not within the Planning 83 

Board’s purview. Article 23 is outside of the Planning Board’s purview. The Planning Board 84 

can’t change it, but City Council can. There is going to be a separate ordinance through the City 85 

Council, a companion to this item, which will address that. 86 

#2 - Is to define a term that is used in the site development standards multiple times, but is not 87 

defined anywhere within the land development code. The term is “primary entrance”. Ms. 88 

Brunner stated this came up during site plan review a couple years ago. Staff felt it would be 89 

helpful to include a definition. She indicated because this is a niche definition, it could 90 

potentially have unintended effects if it is made a definition for the whole document, so staff 91 

opted to just keep it as a definition for the specific section which is the screening standard in the 92 

site development regulations 93 

Currently, the screening regulations already state that you cannot have a service area or drive 94 

through windows and lanes etc. on a facade with a primary entrance, but it does not define what 95 

a primary entrance is. What staff is proposing is under the general standards for screening, add a 96 

new Section E, which says, “... wherever possible, service areas drive through windows and 97 

lanes, mechanical equipment, parking areas and other areas likely to generate noise, dust traffic 98 

or other disruptive conditions should not be located adjacent to a primary entrance. For the 99 

purposes of this section, primary entrance shall mean, the front and or street facing points of 100 

ingress and egress to a building…” 101 

Ms. Brunner stated this does not change anything other than creating a definition of what we 102 

think primary entrance means or what was intended with that. Chair Farrington referred to the 103 

McDonald’s and Wendy’s sites on Winchester Street - their front facade does not have any 104 

doorways. The doorways face the street, but they are on the side of the building. Ms. Brunner 105 

stated this would be allowed, because it has to be a street facing facade. As long as the drive 106 

through window and lane is not parallel to Winchester Street it would be allowed. The Chair felt 107 

this language would indicate that McDonald's has no primary entrance. Chair Remy agreed with 108 

the Chair and added there could be other cases that do not have a street facing entrance. Ms. 109 

Brunner agreed and added hence the reason staff wanted to define it, because you could interpret 110 

primary entrance to mean the main entrance to the building, which may or may not have been the 111 

intention of this standard. Otherwise, saying that you can’t have a drive through window or that 112 

you can’t have service areas adjacent to it would be restrictive. She added this issue came up 113 

5



with 310 Marlboro Street where the main entrance to the apartments was going to be on the side 114 

of the building set back 200 feet from the road. Councilor Remy stated he reads the language to 115 

say that the City does not want to see the dumpster right next to a main entrance.  116 

Ms. Brunner asked whether the Board agrees that the primary entrance should be narrowed to 117 

just entrances along street facing facades. Councilor Remy suggested deleting word primary 118 

entrance because that implies  the main entrance.  119 

Mr. Hoefer felt there could be a flexibility in an undefined primary entrance. For example, for 120 

buildings like McDonald’s the primary entrance is off the parking lot. 121 

Mr. Clancy asked whether there was a specified distance for a location of a dumpster. Ms. 122 

Brunner stated that was part of the reason, to make it clear to somebody when they are trying to 123 

design their site what the City is looking for. She added the term primary entrance is used several 124 

times in this section of the code. It is also used elsewhere in the code in a different way. Ms. 125 

Brunner stated she would be open to changing the term based on the Board’s preference, but it 126 

would be helpful to clarify for developers what the Board is looking for. 127 

Mr. Kost stated the desire is for street facing facades and not having dumpsters when you enter a 128 

site. He stated street facing is what the City wants to protect and felt that should be emphasized. 129 

Mr. Kost also referred to the term “wherever possible” and wasn’t sure if this was a necessary 130 

term. Ms. Brunner stated specifically service areas, drive through areas and parking areas, are 131 

already in other sections that are stronger that would prohibit it without a waiver or variance. 132 

Mechanical equipment that does not have a hard and fast rule, because there are times when due 133 

to the feasibility and technical constraints, it may have to be located on a street facing facade. 134 

For instance in the downtown, where some parcels have three street facing facades. She added on 135 

the list wherever possible would only refer to mechanical equipment. 136 

Councilor Remy stated he only sees two places in this chapter where we call something else a 137 

primary entrance. He referred Section 26 A.1: waste collection, waste compaction, recycling 138 

collection and other similar service areas shall not be located along the business frontage 139 

building frontage or along a building facade with a primary entrance and shall be screened from 140 

view from adjacent property. 141 

Section 26 2.B.1 drive through businesses, drive through windows and lanes shall not be located 142 

along the building frontage or along a building facade with a primary entrance. 143 

He felt both of these sections are trying to clearly differentiate between frontage and primary 144 

entrance. He felt if the City’s concern is frontage or street facing points of ingress, then there 145 

needs to be a broader change as this language clearly says if there is a main entrance we do not 146 

want this type of use next to it. Ms. Brunner stated she interprets this slightly differently. When 147 

we talk about frontage, we always identify one frontage and then you might have a street facing 148 

façade that is technically not the frontage. She went on to say at the time 310 Marlboro Street 149 

was constructed the Planning Board concluded that the dumpster could be next to that door 150 

without a waiver because they did not feel like that door was a primary entrance. She indicated 151 

that is where she took the cue for the proposed language.   152 

Mr. Hoefer asked whether there is a list of definitions versus building this into a Section E. Ms. 153 

Brunner stated this option was discussed but there is one other location in the land development 154 

code where the term primary entrance is used and staff did not want to cause complications 155 

6



elsewhere in the code by creating a definition that might conflict with what is meant in that 156 

section. 157 

Councilor Remy suggested deleting or along a building facade with a primary entrance from 158 

Section 21. 6. 2.A.1 or where it says waste collection waste, compaction, recycling collection 159 

and other similar service areas should not be located along the building frontage and shall be 160 

screened from view from adjacent property or public rights away, not including alleys - it would 161 

remove a section where it says and along a building facade with a primary entrance AND drive 162 

through business, drive through windows and lanes shall not be located along the building 163 

frontage( This would be the end of the sentence). 164 

Ms. Brunner suggested the following language service areas and drive through windows and 165 

lanes shall not be located adjacent to a primary entrance for the purposes of this section. 166 

Primary entrance shall mean the main point of ingress or egress for pedestrians entering the 167 

building.  168 

Ms. Brunner asked permission to take a straw poll and asked how many Board members would 169 

want to allow service areas and drive through windows and lanes to only be restricted from the 170 

front. The alternative vote is to say that they are restricted from the front and primary entrances. 171 

Chair Farrington and two others voted for the street facing version. The others did not want a 172 

drive thru at the main entrance. Mr. Hoefer and Mr. Rangel agreed to that. Ms. Brunner asked 173 

whether Mr. Clancy and Mr. Cocivera had a preference. Mr. Clancy asked whether this section 174 

was for staff purposes or for the Board. Ms. Brunner stated these are the Board’s site 175 

development standards. Mr. Clancy asked whether it needs to be defined here or whether it could 176 

be defined in the definition section as suggested by Councilor Remy. Ms. Brunner stated it could 177 

be defined in the definition section, but she will need to review in other sections of the code 178 

where this term is used to avoid confusion. 179 

Mr. Kost referred to a shopping center such as Hannaford’s where there is parking by the main 180 

entrance where it can very hazardous and this proposal can’t do anything about such a situation. 181 

Ms. Brunner stated this is the reason to keep primary entrance and have it mean the main 182 

entrance into the building that most people use. She stated she would just keep it to service areas, 183 

drive through windows and lanes, and remove the other items. Right now, in the code, it already 184 

says that you can’t have parking between the building and the street; it has to be either to the side 185 

or behind the building. 186 

The Board discussed the different scenarios with drive thru lanes in Keene. Ms. Brunner referred 187 

to the Burger King and the Tito's building and stated she does not consider the part that goes by 188 

the entrance to be a drive through lane. The drive through lane is the lane that is just for the cars 189 

to go around and has the window with menu boards and microphones. 190 

Mr. Hoefer agreed and added he would not want a new fast food place to locate a drive thru 191 

window right next to their main door. Councilor Remy suggested defining primary entrance in 192 

the code and put it in the definitions as the entrance that people use to enter and exit a building 193 

because it applies to both this section and Section 9. 194 

Ms. Brunner stated this language should then be removed entirely from the Planning Board's 195 

changes and then add the definition to the definition section, which is technically not in the 196 

7



Board’s purview. Staff will then be bringing an ordinance forward to City Council and will 197 

include it in that. 198 

Ms. Brunner moved forward with the next change. 199 

#3 - Amend the Earth Excavation Regulations - To reflect a vote that the Board has already 200 

taken. She reminded the Board that at a meeting several months ago, the Board voted to delegate 201 

enforcement authority to staff, and this change is just codifying it in the LDC. 202 

#4 - The code still says it requires the submittal of seven full size copies. Ms. Brunner explained 203 

the reason for this is that historically, copies of the plans were sent to the various departments 204 

that review them through interdepartmental mail. COVID put an end to that practice. Digital 205 

copies are used now. 206 

Mr. Kost asked if the city still requires Mylar copies. Ms. Brunner stated this is a requirement at 207 

the end of the process once everything is approved.  208 

#5 – Submittal Requirement – A request from one of the planners, because they often have to 209 

request this information and they would prefer that it is articulated in the submittal requirements 210 

so applicants are aware that they are going to need the zoning information on the plan. Mr. 211 

Hoefer confirmed the information on a plan such as this would only refer to lot sizes and not 212 

about the number of bedrooms or bathrooms etc. Ms. Brunner answered in the affirmative and 213 

added zone dimensional requirements typically include lot size, frontage, and lot width at the 214 

building line, setbacks, impervious coverage, and building height. It is about comparing numbers 215 

to make sure they meet the standards. 216 

#6 – In the application procedures, applicants have the ability to request an exemption from a 217 

submittal requirement; all other items require a waiver. There is a requirement for just boundary 218 

line adjustments in the filing section, which is not in the BLA submittal requirements,  to submit 219 

an updated survey showing the metes and bounds of the revised parcels. For example, for a lot 220 

that is 50 acres and another lot that is 1/4 of an acre and a lot line is being adjusted between those 221 

two lots, all that should be required is a metes and bounds in the vicinity of where the lot lines 222 

are changing. Ms. Brunner noted to require a survey of the entire 50 acres is cost prohibitive.  223 

When applicants try to request an exemption they are technically not permitted to because this is 224 

not in the submittal requirements. Instead, they have to request a waiver, which is a separate 225 

process before the Board. What staff is trying to require is just the metes and bounds for portions 226 

of the parcels that are changing.  227 

#7 – addresses HB413, which was signed into law and is retroactively effective. This applies to 228 

anything from July 1, 2023 on. It changed the time frame for active and substantial development 229 

to be three years instead of two years. Substantial completion went from five years to seven 230 

years. Once an applicant gets final approval from the Planning Board, they have three years to 231 

start the project and seven years to complete the project. If they meet this timeframe then their 232 

rights are vested. Future changes to zoning, subdivision or site plan will not affect the applicant. 233 

The current code refers to two years. 234 

Staff also wanted to clarify because the language currently states, within two years, starting the 235 

day following the Board’s decision to approve or conditionally approve. Ms. Brunner stated now 236 

that the Board goes through the final approval process, staff wanted to make it clear that it is the 237 

vote on the final approval that starts these clocks.  238 

8



#8 – To add a new Section D referred to as Substantial Completion. The reason for this is that the 239 

current language does not define what substantial completion means. The same language as 240 

active and substantial development, but then items for substantial completion would be roadways 241 

to be installed and paved through the base course - this does not necessarily have to be accepted 242 

by City Council, but it has to meet the conditions for acceptance, which would be determined by 243 

the Public Works Director. Utilities have to be installed and ready for hookup. Lot monuments, 244 

driveways and other site features are installed or completed. All permanent on site, storm water 245 

management, erosion control, etc. are installed. Buildings and structures, off-site improvements, 246 

if they are required. Ms. Brunner noted this refers to “hard infrastructure” and major site features 247 

being installed. 248 

Mr. Kost asked how a phased plan works in this instance. Ms. Brunner stated 90% of the plans 249 

the Board approve are not in phases. In the case where there are phases, the Board has leeway to 250 

determine what the time frame for active and substantial development will be for the subsequent 251 

phases. Substantial development would be based off that time frame set by the Board. 252 

Councilor Remy talked about staff approved changes that would not come back before the Board 253 

and asked that this be kept in mind. Ms. Brunner stated if an applicant wants to modify their plan 254 

before final approval, they are required to come before the Board. If staff does approve a change 255 

after final approval, substantial completion would be reviewed using the most current approved 256 

version of the plan.  257 

Mr. Hoefer felt there should be one definition of what Substantial Completion is and then all 258 

sections refer to that definition versus having to define it multiple times throughout the code.  259 

Ms. Brunner in response stated Active and Substantial Development and Substantial Completion 260 

are specific to whether it is a site plan or subdivision. There could be one definition for both, 261 

although there are some slight differences. For instance, for subdivision, it includes lot 262 

monuments. For site plans, it includes some other site features that you would not normally see 263 

in a subdivision. She added Section 26-10 is the Board Subdivision Application procedures and 264 

Section 26-12 are the Site Plan Application procedures. 265 

Mr. Kost felt for a user everything that needs to be used for a subdivision application should be 266 

in one location and it would be true for site plan application and liked how it was structured.  267 

Ms. Brunner next reviewed Site Plan review thresholds that were reviewed last month. She noted 268 

to one change from last month, which was to split out the thresholds for additions between 269 

downtown districts and all other districts. 270 

Currently, Site Plan review thresholds for a new principal building or structure is anything 271 

greater than 5,000 square feet of gross floor area is considered a major site plan. Between 1,000 272 

square feet and 5,000 square feet is considered minor site plan. 273 

For Additions - In the downtown district it will remain as it is outlined today, which is anything 274 

greater than 15% of the gross floor area of the principal building would be a major site plan. 275 

Between 10% and 15% would be a minor site plan. 276 

Outside of downtown districts, that threshold would be raised to increase the number of projects 277 

that could go to the Minor Project Review Committee. 278 

9



New residential units, 25 or more would go to Major Site Plan. Between 10 to 24 would go to 279 

Minor Site Plan. 280 

Vehicle trips - Increase of 100 per day or 50 per peak hour would be Major Site Plan, which is 281 

how it exists today. 282 

New impervious surfaces – would remain as they are outlined today.  283 

No propose changes to land disturbance. 284 

Street Access – This is a new proposal. All street access is sent to the Planning Board. Ms. 285 

Brunner stated they would like to have flexibility to send some of those to the Minor Project 286 

Review Committee.  In instances where an applicant is removing street access or narrowing it, 287 

perhaps having that reviewed administratively. Any time an exception is required from the street 288 

access standard, this would be sent for Planning Board review. If they are meeting all street 289 

access requirements, they can go to Minor Project Review Committee. If they are creating a new 290 

driveway or they are widening an existing driveway, but they are still staying within the 291 

requirements, they can go before Minor Project Review Committee If they are reducing the 292 

number of curb cuts or narrowing them, it could be reviewed administratively with the caveat 293 

that  the City Engineer would review it as well.  294 

Mr. Kost referred to land disturbance of an acre and felt in the downtown an acre is a large area 295 

of land. He noted for instance a business on an acre of land downtown won’t go before the 296 

Planning Board even though it is on Main Street; form based code could also be an issue that 297 

could be considered here. He felt this is a large impact in a downtown area. 298 

Ms. Brunner referred to the list of thresholds for Major and Minor Site Plan and stated a project 299 

that meets any one of these thresholds would have to be reviewed for Major or Minor Site Plan 300 

Review. She added modifications to the building or a site, such as facade alteration, landscaping, 301 

lighting is at the discretion of the Community Development Director and could warrant review 302 

by the Planning Board. Change of use is also another opportunity for staff to use some discretion 303 

and move items to the Planning Board. In situations like this, staff will also consult with the 304 

Board Chair to get his/her opinion. If an applicant pushes back, “Advice and Comment” is also 305 

an option that is suggested. Mr. Kost felt as long as the Board and staff are comfortable that the 306 

downtown will be properly protected, he is ok with what is being proposed. Ms. Brunner added 307 

another layer of protection for the downtown, at least for historic buildings, is the Historic 308 

District Commission. You cannot demolish a historic building that has been ranked as 309 

contributing or primary, unless you meet specific conditions. Mr. Kost referred to the Ted’s site, 310 

Athens Building etc. which are not historic buildings.  Ms.  Brunner felt realistically most 311 

development downtown would come before the Planning Board. She indicated the instance it 312 

will not be sent to the Board is, if it is adaptive reuse of an existing building. 313 

#11 - To give the Minor Project Review Committee explicit authorization to refer projects when 314 

items come before them that does not meet zoning, or if an applicant finds out part way through 315 

the process that they need a waiver. This puts developers on notice as well as the Minor Project 316 

Review Committee members that they then can refer the project to the appropriate Board. If it 317 

does not meet zoning, or if a project requires a waiver, it is not within their jurisdiction; this is 318 

just language to help clarify that. 319 

10



#12 - To specify that a final plan needs to include all professional stamps for anyone who helps 320 

prepare the plan. This is something that is required today. This is to make sure that the code 321 

reflects that. This is required in the submittal requirements, but not in the filing requirements. 322 

Hence, it is just being restated under the filing requirements.  323 

#13 - To require a flattened PDF copy of as built plans in addition to the paper and electronic file 324 

formats and to also specify the number of paper copies. At the present time, when an applicant 325 

submits an as built plan the department retains a copy and one paper copy is sent to Public 326 

Works. Planning staff will do a review of the PDF to make sure that it reflects what is supposed 327 

to be there and then engineering does a more detailed review of the actual electronic file.  328 

#14 - Conditional Use Permit Application Procedures: At the present time, this states that 329 

applicants who are seeking a waiver for a conditional use permit shall apply to the Zoning Board 330 

of Adjustment for a Variance. However, in the Telecommunications CUP, there is process for 331 

the Planning Board to issue a waiver. This change would clarify that, a variance is required 332 

unless stated otherwise elsewhere in the LDC. 333 

#15 and #16 - To remove the requirement from both the Subdivision Regulations and the Site 334 

Plan Regulations that waivers must follow the same process as the application. What this means 335 

today is when an applicant submits their application and staff is doing a review, it is a tight 336 

timeline; staff try to get projects through in one planning board meeting whenever possible. 337 

However, if a waiver is require dand that is realized too late in the process, this delays the 338 

application because they have to notice the waiver within the required noticing time frame; state 339 

statute comes out to 14 days before the meeting. Staff is proposing any waivers that are 340 

identified and staff is aware of would still be included in the legal ad language. However, if a 341 

waiver is required and this is discovered after the legal ad goes out or if it is discovered during 342 

the Planning Board meeting, the Board could still have the ability to determine whether or not to 343 

grant a waiver without having the applicant go through the notice process. Ms. Brunner noted 344 

noticing waivers is a Keene issue and did not believe other communities require that. 345 

Ms. Brunner added this would reduce the timeframe of an applicant as well as reduce the cost 346 

because when they have to do a whole round of noticing just for a waiver, that means they have 347 

to do the legal ad fee again and the abutter notice fee again.  348 

Councilor Remy, suggested in the language for the noticing say waivers from requirements may 349 

be requested at the meeting up until the meeting. Ms. Brunner agreed and stated this could 350 

perhaps be added in the abutter notice as legal ads are charged per line. The Councilor asked 351 

whether this could dis-incentivize applicants from providing the waivers on time. Ms. Brunner 352 

stated she did not think so and added staff does an initial determination of completeness and then 353 

do a more thorough review and send the applicant a memo of comments. The applicant then has 354 

a revision deadline and this is when they would be required to submit any outstanding items and 355 

waivers. If the application is not ready for the public hearing, the Planning Board Steering 356 

Committee has the ability to indicate whether it goes on the agenda as well. 357 

Councilor Remy also suggested this language: waiver request shall be submitted prior to the 358 

revision meeting, except as exempted by the Community Development Director. 359 

Ms. Brunner referred to page 31 of the Board’s packet, Section 26, 10.14, all items above Item E 360 

has to be met: Request has to be made in writing; They have to cite the specific regulation. She 361 

11



added vast majority of the developers are acting in good faith and with others, there is leeway for 362 

the Board to act. 363 

Mr. Hoefer stated as long as the Board feels good that that process to identify the need for a 364 

waiver is happening ahead of time and this is only to prevent the minor cases that might come up 365 

during the review process – he was in agreement with this amendment. Ms. Brunner stated staff 366 

also schedules a pre-submission meeting where they meet with the applicant prior to submission 367 

of the application. At times, there is significant changes between that point and when they submit 368 

the application. Staff will also at times send a Memo of all items required. 369 

#17 – Proposal to amend the Earth Excavation application submittal requirements. Specifically, 370 

the section refers to exemptions. This amendment is to make it specific about what section it is 371 

and where an applicant can request for exemptions.  Ms. Brunner further stated Earth Excavation 372 

Regulations were written a while ago and have not been used until recently. She noted the 373 

section on security does not match other sections on security. Planning Board policy is to not 374 

accept performance bonds and to only accept checks or letters of credit. Councilor Remy asked 375 

whether it matters whom the letter of credit is from. Ms. Brunner stated she assumes it can only 376 

come from a bank and stated she would need to defer to the Finance Department. 377 

Master Plan Consistency – This is in line with the recently adopted master plan. There are goals 378 

listed under Livable Housing to make sure that the housing development process is transparent, 379 

easy to navigate. The City is trying to boost infill development and redevelopment, remove 380 

barriers to housing developments. 381 

Under the Thriving Economy - Goal 3 - An action item to review the City’s regulatory processes 382 

to identify potential challenges or constraints that perspective businesses and or developers may 383 

face. 384 

Under Flourishing Environment - Where it talks about as an aspiration, smart growth, compact, 385 

walkable development and infill are promoted to preserve green space and farms and adaptive 386 

reuse of buildings is the common building strategy over greenfield development. To make sure 387 

regulations are as clear and streamlined as possible is going to help achieve that goal. 388 

 389 

Ms. Brunner next went over the changes from the Board 390 

#1 - strike the beginning and to say the owner shall instead of referring to Article 23. 391 

#2 – to delete this item in its entirety and add the definition of primary entrance to the ordinance 392 

that goes to City Council. 393 

Ms. Brunner reviewed the changes again: 394 

Amendment #1 would be modified to read 20.2.5 – Monumentation – the owner/developer shall 395 

provide permanent reference monuments and final subdivision plans…. 396 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board approve amendments to the 397 

Planning Board Subdivision regulations, site development standards, earth excavation 398 

regulations and application procedures, as shown in the memorandum to the Planning Board 399 

dated November 14th, 2025 with an effective date of January 1, 2026, with the exception of 400 

12



amendment one, striking the words in accordance with Article 23 of this LDC and capitalizing 401 

the 1st letter of the next word; 402 

In addition, striking Amendment 2 entirely with the intent that the definition is sent forward to 403 

City Council for a different amendment. 404 

The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved.  405 

A motion was made by Councilor Remy that the Planning Board refer the amended regulations 406 

to City Council for incorporation to Chapter 100 Land Development Code of the City Code of 407 

Ordinances. The motion was seconded by Armando Rangel and was unanimously approved.  408 

 409 

V) Training on Site Development Standards City has had, and the City Council goals  410 

that get adopted every two years, so I just want to review that I'm going to go through the 411 

proposed amendment Standard #6 – Screening & Standard #7 – Lighting 412 

 413 

Item was tabled for next month. 414 

 415 

VI) Staff Updates 416 

Staff is working on an implementation plan for the master plan. Staff is waiting for Council to 417 

finish their goals. She indicated next meeting is a full agenda with six public hearings as well as 418 

the meeting scheduled for next year. In the New Year, the Board will be starting its review of the 419 

CIP. 420 

 421 

VII) New Business 422 

None 423 

 424 

VIII) Upcoming Dates of Interest  425 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – December 8th, 6:30 PM  426 

• Planning Board Steering Committee – December 9th, 12:00 PM  427 

• Planning Board Site Visit – December 17th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  428 

• Planning Board Meeting –December 22nd, 6:30 PM 429 

 430 

B. More Time Items 431 

 432 

C. Adjournment 433 

There being no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 8:18 PM. 434 

 435 

Respectfully submitted by, 436 

Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 437 

 438 

Reviewed and edited by, 439 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 440 

13



 
Planning Board  

 
2026 Meeting Schedule 

 
All meetings are generally held on the 4th Monday of each month at 6:30 PM in 
the 2nd Floor Council Chambers of City Hall, unless otherwise noted with an * 

 
January 26, 2026 
February 23, 2026 

March 23, 2026 
April 27, 2026 

*May 26, 2026 (4th Tuesday) 
June 22, 2026 
July 27, 2026 

August 24, 2026 
September 28, 2026 

October 26, 2026 
November 23, 2026 

*December 21, 2026 (3rd Monday) 
January 25, 2027 

 

14



MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   December 12, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item IV - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, there are no applications ready for final approval. 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

15

https://keenenh.gov/planning-board


PB-2025-30 – BOUNDARY LINE ADJUSTMENT – CEDARCREST & FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH, 
91 & 105 MAPLE AVE 

 
Request: 
Applicant Huntley Survey & Design, on behalf of owners Cedarcrest and the 1st Baptist Church of 
Keene, proposes to transfer ~7.5-ac from the ~21.5-ac lot at 105 Maple Ave (TMP# 227-017-000) 
to the ~6.7-ac lot at 91 Maple Ave (TMP# 227-018-000). The 105 Maple Ave property is in the 
Low-Density District, and 91 Maple Ave is in the Conservation & Low-Density Districts. 
 
Background: 
The two subject parcels are located on the eastern side of Maple Ave, just south of Route 12 and 
the Keene Middle School property. The Cedarcrest parcel at 91 Maple Ave is located mostly in the 
Low Density (LD) District with a ~1.7-ac section located in the Conservation (C) District. The 
property is developed with an ~30,000-sf building, a few outbuildings, a paved parking lot, 
walkways, and an outdoor seating area. This property also has an approved site plan and CUP for 
a medium-scale ground-mounted solar energy system to the rear of the main building.  
 
The First Baptist Church parcel at 105 Maple Ave is ~21.5-ac and is located entirely within the LD 
District. The parcel is developed with an ~13,000-sf church building, a few accessory outbuildings, 
paved parking areas, walkways, and a telecommunications tower on the rear (eastern) portion of 
the lot. Adjacent uses include NH Rt. 12; undeveloped land to the east; a cemetery and multi-
family housing to the south; and a mix of residential, and institutional uses to the west. 
 
The applicant proposes a boundary line adjustment (BLA) that would transfer ~7.5-ac of land 
from the First Baptist Church parcel to the Cedarcrest site. There is no development proposed as 
part of this application. The current and proposed layouts of these parcels are shown in Figures 
1 & 2. 

16



 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
Staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed lot line adjustment does not have the 
potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board should make a final 
determination as to whether the proposal could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting all technical reports. After reviewing 
these requests, Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the 
requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend 
that the Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: There were no departmental comments on this application. 
 
 

Application Analysis 
 
20.2.1 – LOTS: The proposed lot size and configuration for each parcel, shown in Figure 2 and 
Table 1, appear to meet all zoning and frontage requirements. This standard appears to be met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 1. Area of Land Affected by Proposed Boundary Line Adjustment 

Lot Sizes 
Cedarcrest Church 

LD 
(Min. 10,000 sf) 

C 
(Min. 5 ac) Total LD 

(Min. 10,000 sf) 
Before BLA 5.0-ac 1.7-ac 6.7-ac 21.5-ac 
After BLA 12.5-ac 1.7-ac 14.2-ac 14.0-ac 

17



20.2.4 – PRESERVATION OF EXISTING FEATURES: The proposed plan shows the presence of 
wetlands on the rear portion of the church lot and includes the 30’ buffer around these areas. 
Note 9 on the plan states that any future development in these areas may require the submittal 
of a Surface Water Protection Conditional Use Permit (CUP) for review by the City of Keene 
Planning Board. This standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.5 – MONUMENTATION: The project narrative states that if approved, the new lot bounds will 
be monumented using 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass disks. Planning 
Staff recommend that the Board include a precedent condition of approval related to the 
inspection of these lot monuments by the Public Works Director following their installation, or in 
lieu of this, the submittal of a security to cover the cost of this inspection. This standard appears 
to be met. 
 
20.2.6 – SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS: The subject parcels are not located within any special 
flood hazard areas. This standard is not applicable. 
 
20.2.7 – FIRE PROTECTION & WATER SUPPLY: The City’s GIS Database shows that there are two 
existing fire hydrants on the Cedarcrest parcel as well as a fire hydrant located directly across the 
street from the church on the Trinity Lutheran School & Church site at 100 Maple Ave. This 
standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.8 – UTILITIES:  Both parcels are already developed with city water and sewer service, and no 
new development is proposed. This standard does not apply. 
 
21.9 – TRAFFIC & ACCESS MANAGEMENT: No changes are proposed to the existing frontage or 
site access for either parcel and no new development is proposed. This standard does not apply. 
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 

“Approve PB-2025-30 as shown on the plan identified as “Boundary Line Adjustment” 
prepared by Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 100 feet on November 12, 
2025 and last revised on December 5, 2025 with the following conditions prior to final 
approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair: 

1. Owners’ signatures appear on the plans. 
2. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a flattened PDF 

version of the final plan set. 
3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover 

the cost of recording fees. 
4. Inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or in lieu of this, the 

submittal of a security to cover the cost of this inspection.” 
 

18



19



20



 
 

Technical Subdivision 
Between Lands of  

Cedarcrest, Inc. & 1st Baptist Church of Keene 
 

November 13, 2025 
 

Project Narrative 
Cedarcrest, Inc. currently owns a 6-acre parcel of land, located at 91 Maple Avenue in Keene 
and shown on Keene tax maps as parcel 227-017. They wish to acquire a portion of the adjacent 
lot owned by the 1st Baptist Church of Keene, located at 105 Maple Avenue, shown as tax map 
parcel 227-18, and currently containing 21.4 acres.  
 
The proposed area to be transferred to Cedarcrest, Inc. consists of the south-easterly 7.49 acres 
(326,267 Sq.Ft.). of the said Church lot along with an access strip 50 feet wide and running 
parallel to the boundary line.  
 
Jim Yannizze, Director of Finance at Cedarcrest, Inc., and Linda Overall, Transition Pastor at 1st 
Baptist Church of Keene, retained Huntley Survey & Design to perform the necessary boundary 
& topographic surveys for the project. Huntley Survey & Design has prepared the boundary line 
adjustment plat and application. If approved, the proposed adjustment will be monumented with 
5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass disks at each new corner and all 
existing, unmarked corners. 
 
The parcel lies within the Low Density District, which requires a minimum area of 10,000 square 
feet per lot and 60’ of road frontage on a Class V or better highway. The proposed transfer does 
not affect the frontage of either of the lots involved and the areas remain in keeping with the 
current development in the area.  
 
Proposed Lot 227-018, with the existing building, driveway, and parking lot, will have 319’ feet 
of frontage on Maple Avenue, and 14.19 acres (618,237 Sq.Ft.). Access will remain the driveway 
off Maple Avenue. 
 
Proposed Lot 227-017, with the existing building, parking lot, and driveways, will have 366.5’ 
feet of frontage on Maple Avenue, and will contain 14.03 acres (611,246 Sq.Ft.). Access will 
remain the 2 driveways off Maple Avenue.  
 
Both lots are currently serviced by town water and sewer. The lots as proposed meet the 
requirements of the City of Keene Land Development Code. 
 
No development beyond the boundary adjustment is proposed at this time. 
  

21



Subdivision Review Standards 19.2  
The City of Keene Subdivision review standards will be met, or waivers will be requested as 
follows: 
20.2.1 Lots 
The size, configuration, and frontage of both proposed lots meet all requirements of the zoning 
regulations. The standard is met. 
20.2.2 Character of Land 
The land does not pose danger to health or peril from fire, flood, poor drainage, excessive slope, 
or other hazardous conditions. Additionally, no development of the transferred parcel is 
proposed. 
20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development 
This subdivisions does not promote scattered or premature development of land 
20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features 
There are no currently proposed changes to the site.  
20.2.5 Monumentation 
If approved, the proposed adjustment will be monumented with 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, 
railroad spikes, or brass disks 
20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas 
The subject parcels do not lie within a special flood hazard area. 
20.2.7 Fire Protection and Water Supply 
The subject parcels are served by municipal water supply. There are a number of fire hydrants 
within the vicinity and no new development is proposed, so the project meets this standard. 
 
Site Development Standards 
The City of Keene Site development standards will be met for the proposed subdivision. The 
proposed parcels will continue as they have and do not contribute any detrimental effects to any 
of the standards. 
Article 21.2 – Drainage & Stormwater Management 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.3 – Sediment and Erosion Control 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 

22

mailto:Russ@huntleysurvey.com


Article 21.4 – Snow Storage & removal 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.5 – Landscaping  
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.6 – Screening  
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.7 – Lighting 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.8 – Sewer & Water 
Municipal water and sewer are provided and proposed the adjustment will meet the standards of  
Art.20.8.  
Article 21.9 – Traffic and Access Management 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.10 Filling and Excavation 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.11 – Surface Water and Wetlands 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply 
Article 21.12 – Hazardous and Toxic Materials 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. The standard does not 
apply. 
Article 21.13 – Noise 
Noise levels will remain the same. The standard of the article is met. 
Article 21.14 – Architectural and visual appearance 
No development or site changes to the existing state of land or building is proposed. The 
standard does not apply. 
 
 

23

mailto:Russ@huntleysurvey.com


24



25



STAFF REPORT 
 

APPEAL OF STREET ACCESS PERMIT DECISION – 31 ROBBINS RD 
 
Request: 

Applicant and owner Karin Royce is appealing a decision of the City Engineer to deny a request 
for an exception from Sect. 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land Development Code regarding allowed driveway 
width. The parcel is 0.41-ac in size and is in the Low-Density District. 

 
Background: 

The subject parcel is an 
existing .41-ac lot located on 
the north side of Robbins Rd 
adjacent to the intersection 
with Hanover St. The 
property is developed as a 
single-family residence with 
an attached garage.  
 
Earlier this year, the owners 
widened the existing 
driveway by ~9 feet and the 
City Engineer’s office sent a 
notice of violation dated 
August 25 informing them 
that the work performed in 
the driveway required a 
permit and did not appear to 
meet the City’s regulations 
for residential driveways. 
Specifically, the driveway 
exceeded the maximum 
widths at the curbline (30’) 
and the property line (20’). 
On October 27, a Street 
Access Permit application 
was submitted and reviewed by the City Engineer’s Office. The application with the requested 
exemption related to width was denied based on a determination that there is no unique 
characteristic of the land or property which presented a physical hardship.  The property owners 
are appealing the City Engineer’s decision and are entitled to a de novo (i.e. – “new”) review of the 
application and exception request in accordance with Section 27.8 of the LDC.  
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 

Staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed Street Access Permit exception 
request does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board should make a final determination on this matter. 
 
Completeness: 

The applicant has not requested any exemptions from submittal items as part of this application. 
Planning Staff recommend that the Planning Board accept the application as “complete.” 

Figure 1. Image of 31 Robbins Road property, outlined in yellow. 

26



STAFF REPORT 
 

Departmental Comments: 

1. Engineering Staff Comments 

a. “Based on our review, we have determined that your request does not satisfy the 
evaluation criteria, specifically, that there are no unique characteristics of the land which 
present a physical hardship.” 

 
APPLICATION ANALYSIS 

 
 
STREET ACCESS PERMIT REVIEW STANDARD 23.5.4.A: 
 

Street access for single-family dwellings and two-family dwellings, including shared 
drives, shall not be more than 20-ft wide at the property line and 30-ft wide at the curbline.  

 
The plan submitted by the applicant shows a widening of the driveway along the eastern edge by 
9 feet, bringing the width of the driveway to 32 feet. This exceeds the allowed width at the curbline 
by 2 ft and at the property line by 12 ft.  
 
The Planning Board should evaluate the four criteria listed in Sect. 23.5.6 of the LDC, listed below, 
in determining whether to grant the driveway exception request.  
 
“23.5.6 Exceptions to Street Access Standards  

A. Issuance of the exception will not adversely affect the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists, and 
vehicles using adjacent streets and intersections.  

B. Issuance of the exception does not adversely affect the efficiency and capacity of the street 
or intersection.  

C. There are unique characteristics of the land or property which present a physical hardship 
to the requestor.  

D. In no case shall financial hardship be used to justify the granting of the exception.”  
 
 
RECOMMENDED MOTION:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 
Exception Request: “Move to grant an exception from Section 23.5.4.A.8 of the Land Development 
Code to allow for a driveway width greater than 30 ft at the curbline and 20 ft at the property line.” 
 
Application Motion: “Move to approve the Street Access Permit for the expansion of the driveway 
at 31 Robbins Road with no conditions.” 

 

 

27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



C I T Y  O F  K E E N E
P U B L I C  W O R K S  D E P A R T M E N T

350 Marlboro Street
Keene, NH 03431

(603) 352-6550
KeeneNH.gov

August 25, 2025

Karin M. Royce Sent by Certified Mail
31 Robbins Road
Keene, NH 03431

Ms. Royce,

The purpose of this letter is to inform you of an observed violation of the Keene City Code, Section
70-135 regarding City requirements for driveways.  It has been brought to our attention that your
property at 31 Robbins Road recently had an unpermitted driveway installed without submitting
and obtaining the required City permits and approvals. We are enclosing a sketch of the
nonconformance area, specifically the installed paved area is in nonconformance with the
following City codes and standards:

City Code Section 70-135 of the City Code of Ordinances provides requirements for street access,
specifically that street access for single family homes and duplexes, included shared street
access, shall not be more than 20 feet wide at the property line and 30 feet wide at the curbline.

If you wish to submit a permit application for review and consideration for these installed site
improvements, you will need also submit for review and approval a variance from the driveway
standards.  Please contact our Community Development office if you wish to submit a permit
application for consideration in pursuit of those approvals.  If not, the paved area to the east of
the pre-existing driveway described herein must be discontinued from use restored to vegetation
prior to September 5, 2025. If violations of the City Code continue after the date of this letter,
general penalties will be pursued by this office.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact the Public Works office at 603-352-6550 or
you can contact me directly by email at bruoff@keenenh.gov.

Respectfully,

Bryan Ruoff, P.E.
City Engineer

cc.  Donald Lussier, Public Works Director
Paul Andrus, Community Development Director

38

bruoff
Stamp



���������		
	��
�����������	�����	
� ����������������  �!  " #�$%���&�' ()��*���+,)����--.-
/0123

456789:�;<=�;>;?@A:9B�CD�E7F59 G9B6�HIA�JKAILMN�E788IBO�E7AP@99B9=�QR��>MSMNEJT�� UVVLI5A6I7B�E9WX9O6�Y7:�AB�JZ59V6I7B�67�[:IH9\AF�G6ABPA:PO�]�MN�E788IBO�E7AP[9A:�COD�E7F59=^9�A:9�IB�:959IV6�7Y�F7X:�O6:996�A559OO�V9:KI6�AVVLI5A6I7B�ABP�AOO75IA69P�:9WX9O6�Y7:�AB�9Z59V6I7B67�6_9�P:IH9\AF�O6ABPA:PO=�P9YIB9P�IB�̀I6F�̀7P9D��̂9�_AH9�:9HI9\9P�F7X:�AVVLI5A6I7B�ABP�:9WX9O6ABP�_AH9�6Aa9B�IB67�57BOIP9:A6I7B�6_9�OV95IYI5�5:I69:IA�Y7:�b:AB6IBb�AB�9Z59V6I7B=�AO�P9YIB9P�IB�G95D;MD?Dc�JZ59V6I7BO�67�G6:996�U559OO�G6ABPA:PO�7Y�6_9�̀I6FdO�eABP�[9H9L7VK9B6�̀7P9=�\_I5_OV95IYI9OTfghigjkj�lmn�gopgqkrmsj�km�ktg�jknggk�uppgjj�jkusvunvj�rs�wgpkrms�xyz{�jtu||�}g�~uvg�rs��nrkrs�km�ktg�uqqnmqnrukg�qgn~rk�rjjirs��uiktmnrk���uj�vglrsgv�rs�wgpkrms�xyz{zy���trpt�jtu||�tu�g�uiktmnrk�km�uqqnm�g�mn�vrjuqqnm�g�ktg�nghigjkgv�gopgqkrms�rs�uppmnvuspg��rkt�ktg�uqq|rpukrms�usv�ng�rg�qnmpgvingj�lmn�jknggk�uppgjj�qgn~rkj�rs�wgpkrms�x�z���usv�iqms�g�u|iukrms�ktg�lm||m�rs��pnrkgnruz�z��jjiuspg�ml�ktg�gopgqkrms��r||�smk�uv�gnjg|��ullgpk�ktg�julgk��ml�qgvgjknrusj�}rp�p|rjkj��usv��gtrp|gj�ijrs��uv�upgsk�jknggkj�usv�rskgnjgpkrmsjz�z��jjiuspg�ml�ktg�gopgqkrms�vmgj�smk�uv�gnjg|��ullgpk�ktg�gllrprgsp��usv�puquprk��mlktg�jknggk�mn�rskgnjgpkrmsz�z��tgng�ung�isrhig�ptunupkgnrjkrpj�ml�ktg�|usv�mn�qnmqgnk���trpt�qngjgsk�u�qt�jrpu|tunvjtrq�km�ktg�nghigjkgnz�z��s�sm�pujg�jtu||�lrsuspru|�tunvjtrq�}g�ijgv�km��ijkrl��ktg��nuskrs��ml�ktg�gopgqkrmsz�AO9P�7B�7X:�:9HI9\=�\9�_AH9�P969:KIB9P�6_A6�F7X:�:9WX9O6�P79O�B76�OA6IOYF�6_9�9HALXA6I7B5:I69:IA=�OV95IYI5ALLF=�6_A6�6_9:9�A:9�B7�XBIWX9�5_A:A569:IO6I5O�7Y�6_9�LABP�\_I5_�V:9O9B6�A�V_FOI5AL_A:PO_IVD��7X�_AH9�6_9�:Ib_6�67�AVV9AL�6_IO�P95IOI7BD��UVV9ALO�KXO6�89�OX8KI669P�IB�\:I6IBb�67�6_9�LABBIBb��7A:P�\I6_IB�M>�PAFOD�Y�F7X�_AH9�ABF�WX9O6I7BO�7:�B99P�ABF�APPI6I7BAL�IBY7:KA6I7B=�VL9AO9�Y99L�Y:99�67�57B6A56�K9�A6c>M�M?;�c??>�7:�8F�9KAIL�A68:X7YY�a99B9B_Db7HE9OV956YXLLF=�:FAB�CD�EX7YY=��DJDÌ6F�JBbIB99:55T� RA::7LP��A::IBb67B=��LABBIBb��7A:P�̀_AI:KAB�AXL�UBP:9O=��LABBIBb�[I:9567:
39



PB-2025-31 – 2-LOT SUBDIVISION – CHESHIRE MEDICAL CENTER WEST CAMPUS, 62 
MAPLE AVE 

 
Request: 
Applicant Huntley Survey & Design, on behalf of owner Cheshire Medical Center, proposes to 
subdivide the ~50-ac lot located at 62 Maple Ave (TMP 227-006-000) into two lots ~1.3-ac and 
~48.6-ac in size. The parcel is in the Industrial Park District.    
 
Background: 
The subject parcel at 62 Maple 
Ave is ~50-ac and serves as 
the site of Cheshire Medical 
Center’s West Campus. The 
property fronts on Maple Ave 
and Route 12 (Figure 1). The 
eastern half of the site along 
Maple Ave is developed with an 
~143,000-sf building and 
associated parking area. The 
western portion of the site is 
forested with areas of 
wetlands located along the 
south and northwest portions 
of the lot.  
 
Adjacent uses include Route 
12 (state highway), residential 
uses, and institutional uses to 
the north, east and south, and 
undeveloped land to the west. 
 
The applicant proposes to create an ~1.28-ac developable lot with frontage on Maple Ave. The 
property is currently in the Industrial Park District; however, a zoning map amendment is currently 
in process that would change the zoning designation of this property to Medium Density (O-2025-
34-A). A decision on the proposed map amendment is expected at the December 18, 2025 City 
Council meeting. No development is proposed for the new lot at this time. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposal does 
not have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board should make a 
final determination as to whether the proposal could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting all technical reports. After reviewing 
this request, Planning Staff have made the preliminary determination that granting the requested 
exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the 
Board accept the application as “complete.” 

N 

40



Departmental Comments:  
• Zoning Staff Comments: There are no zoning concerns with this application as long as 

the proposed zoning map amendment is approved. 
 

APPLICATION ANALYSIS 
 
20.2.1 – LOTS: Proposed Lot 1 will 
be ~1.28-ac in size with ~189’ of 
frontage along Maple Ave., and  Lot 
2 will be ~48.6-ac in size with 
~631.9’ of frontage along Maple 
Ave (Figure 2). If the zoning 
designation of the property is 
changed to Medium Density, the 
proposal will comply with all 
applicable zoning dimensional 
requirements for that district. 
Planning Staff will provide an 
update on the status of the map 
amendment at the December 22 
Planning Board meeting. 
 
20.2.2 – CHARACTER OF LAND 
FOR SUBDIVISION: The project 
narrative states that there are no 
jurisdictional wetlands or special 
flood hazard areas located on Lot 
1; however, Lot 2 contains areas of 
both jurisdictional wetlands and 
special flood hazard areas as shown on the subdivision plan attached to this staff report. No 
development is proposed in any of these areas as part of this application, and Note 8 on the plan 
states that any future development within these areas may require a Surface Water Protection 
CUP and/or a Floodplain Development Permit. This standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.3 – SCATTERED OR PREMATURE DEVELOPMENT: The proposed new lot is located in a 
developed area along a city collector street with access to city water and sewer. This standard 
appears to be met. 
 
20.2.4 – PRESERVATION OF EXISTING FEATURES: The proposed subdivision plan shows areas 
of wetlands along the western and southern portions of Lot 2; however, no development proposed 
in these areas. This standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.5 – MONUMENTATION: The project narrative states that if the subdivision is approved, new 
lot monuments consisting of 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass discs will 
be installed. Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a condition of approval related to 
the inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or in lieu of a lot monument 
inspection, the submittal of a security to cover this cost. This standard appears to be met. 
 

41



20.2.6 – SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS: The southern portion of Lot 2 has areas of wetlands 
and special flood hazard areas due to the presence of Black Brook on and adjacent to the parcel. 
The narrative states that neither the wetlands nor the special flood hazard areas will be impacted 
by the proposed subdivision. This standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.7 – FIRE PROTECTION & WATER SUPPLY: The subject parcel currently has access to City 
water from Maple Ave. Additionally, the City’s GIS Database shows that there is an existing fire 
hydrant on the parcel near the northwestern corner of the building as well as a hydrant located 
near the front of the site along Maple Ave. This standard appears to be met. 
 
20.2.8 – UTILITIES: Both lots will have access to City water and sewer services along Maple Ave. 
This standard appears to be met. 
 
21.9 - TRAFFIC & ACCESS MANAGEMENT: Lot 1 will have ~189’ of frontage along Maple Ave to 
accommodate future street access and no changes are proposed to either of the two existing 
curb cuts for Lot 2. This standard appears to be met.  
 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 

“Approve PB-2025-31 as shown on the plan identified as “Two Lot Subdivision Plan” 
prepared by Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC at a scale of 1 inch = 50 feet on November 14, 
2025 and last revised on December 3, 2025 with the following conditions prior to final 
approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair: 
1. Owner’s signature appears on the plans. 
2. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a flattened PDF 

version of the final plan set. 
3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover 

the cost of recording fees. 
4. Inspection of the lot monuments by the Public Works Director, or in lieu of this, the 

submittal of a security to cover the cost of this inspection.” 

42



43



 
 

Two Lot Subdivision 
Land of Cheshire Medical Center 

62 Maple Avenue, Keene, NH 
 

Project Narrative 
October 7, 2025 

 
The Cheshire Medical Center currently owns a 49.95-acre parcel of land, tax map parcel 227-
006, located at 62 Maple Avenue in Keene. They wish to subdivide the parcel into two lots. The 
proposed lots are as follows: The first proposed lot contains the existing building at 62 Maple 
Avenue along with the parking lot, and roughly 30 acres of undeveloped, wooded land. The 
second proposed lot is a 1.28-acre parcel of grass lawn off Maple Avenue, adjacent to the 
driveway. This parcel is to be purchased by the City of Keene. 
 
Don Lussier, Public Works Director for the City of Keene, retained Huntley Survey & Design to 
perform the necessary boundary & topographic surveys for the project. Huntley survey has 
prepared the subdivision plat and application. If approved, the proposed subdivision will be 
monumented with 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, railroad spikes, or brass disks at each new 
corner and all existing, unmarked corners. 
 
Lot 1 (as labelled on the attached plan) will have 189’ feet of frontage on Maple Avenue, and 
1.28 acres (55,881 Sq.Ft.). Access will be the driveway off Maple Avenue. There are no 
jurisdictional wetlands or flood hazard areas located on proposed Lot 1. 
 
Lot 2, with the existing building, parking lot, and driveway, will have 631.9’ feet of frontage on 
Maple Avenue and will contain 48.6 acres (2,119,937 Sq.Ft.). Access will continue to be the 
driveway off Maple Avenue. This larger, remainder lot contains both significant areas of 
jurisdictional wetlands and flood hazard areas. Neither the flood hazard area, nor the wetlands 
will be impacted by this subdivision. 
 
A zoning change is being/has been concurrently submitted by the City of Keene to change the 
Industrial Park Zone off Maple Avenue and Route 12 to Medium Density. 
 
The developed lot is currently serviced by town water and sewer. The lots as proposed will meet 
the requirements of the City of Keene Land Development Code. 
 
No development beyond the division of the lots is proposed at this time. 
  

44



Subdivision Review Standards 20.2  
The City of Keene Subdivision review standards will be met, or waivers will be requested as 
follows: 
20.2.1 Lots 
The standard is met. 
20.2.2 Character of Land 
The standard is met, and/or lot is already developed. 
20.2.3 Scattered or Premature Development 
The same as Standard 20.2.2 
20.2.4 Preservation of Existing Features 
There are no currently proposed changes to the site.  
20.2.5 Monumentation 
If approved, the proposed subdivision will be monumented with 5/8” rebar with aluminum caps, 
railroad spikes, or brass disks 
20.2.6 Special Flood Hazard Areas 
The standard is met. 
20.2.7 Fire Protection and Water Supply 
The subject parcels lie within the Downtown area and are served by municipal water supply. 
There are a number of fire hydrants within the vicinity and no new development is proposed, so 
the project meets this standard. 
 
Site Development Standards 
The City of Keene Site development standards will be met for the proposed subdivision. No 
development or site changes to the existing state of land is proposed. These standards do not 
apply. 
 

45

mailto:Russ@huntleysurvey.com


00

502+00

503+00

504+00

505+00

506+00

507+00

508+00

509+00

510+00

511+00

512+00

513+00

514+00

515+00

516+00

517+00

INV:510.72
12"HDPE

INV:510.77
12"HDPE

INV:509.60
12"CMP

INV:510.89
12"HDPE

INV:510.55
12"HDPE

INV:510.66
12"HDPE

INV:511.33
12"HDPE

INV:512.26
12"HDPE INV:512.38

8"CMP

INV:512.40
4"HDPE

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

[227-009]
TRINITY LUTHERAN CHURCH

100 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

1701/514

[227-003]
C&S WHOLESALE

GROCERS, Inc.

[227-003]
C&S WHOLESALE GROCERS, Inc.

7 Corporate Drive
Keene, NH 03431

2662/791

[227-003]
C&S WHOLESALE GROCERS, Inc.

[227-004]
PRINCETON KEENE TWO LLC

1115 Westford Street
Lowell, MA 01851

3127/958

[227-005]
MILESTONE FUNERAL FUNERAL

SERVICES OF NH LLC
86 Main Street

Auburn, ME 04210-5799
3290/1013

[227-024]
KEENE CHURCH OF

THE NAZARENE
55 Maple Ave

Keene, NH 03431
1165/289

[227-023]
KEENE CHURCH OF

THE NAZARENE
832/492

[227-021]
CEDARCREST INC

91 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

2966/92

[227-020]
CEDARCREST

FOUNDATION INC
91 Maple Ave

Keene, NH 03431
1677/574

[227-019]
CEDARCREST INC

2932/209

[227-018]
CEDARCREST INC

91 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

2449/439

[227-007]
THOMAS & KATHRYN

JOHNDROW
84 Maple Ave

Keene, NH 03431
3143/832

[227-008]
FRANK & TAMMY

WHORFE
90 Maple Ave

Keene, NH 03431
1334/745

P3436
507+05.2
120.36-RT

NHHB
P3436 - 507+00
120.00-RT

NHHB
P3436 - 500+00
120.00-RT

P3436
507+23.20
120.00-RT

5X6" Stone
Up 9"

1" Pipe
Up 3"

4x4" Stone
Flush

1" Pipe
Up 2"

4x4" Stone
Up 6"

Corner Shown Per
Plan Reference No.1
-Not Surveyed

Corner Shown Per
Plan Reference No.1

-Not Surveyed

Corner Shown Per
Plan Reference No.1
-Not Surveyed

1-1/2" Pipe
Up 8"

1" Pipe
Down 6"

1" Pipe
Flush

1" Pipe, Up 6"
0.6' Off Corner

6x6" Flush Stone
with Drill Hole
Beside 1-1/4"

Witness Pipe up 17"

6x8" Stone
Leaning Against Fence
-Not Held

1" Pipe
Up 6"

BUILDING
RESTRICTION
AREA 636/570

Transmission
Easement
641/485 & 489
per Plan Ref No 1

51
0

510

52
0

FLOODWAY LINE

WETLANDS LINE

100 YEAR FLOOD LINE

500 YEAR FLOOD LINE

CRB

CRB

CRB

CRB's

CRB

CRB

[227-022]
PARKWOOD REALTY TRUST

681 Park Ave
Keene, NH 03431

2051/574

[227-006]
49.95 Acres ±

2,175,817 Sq.Ft. ±
821.7' Frontage ±

BUILDING SETBACK LINE

514

514

516

516
518

518

516518

516

51
6

51
4

51
2

512

514

51
6

516

514

51
6

514

51
6

516

514

514

514

516

518

30' SURFACE WATER
BUFFER LINE

30' SURFACE
WATER
BUFFER LINE

100 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

500 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

500 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

BYREVISIONDATENO.
RJHRevisions per Staff Comments1 12/03/25

Existing Conditions Plan

LAND OF

Cheshire Medical Center
located at

Tax Map 227  Lot 06
62 Maple Avenue, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

Book 3164, Page 1025

Surveyed 11/2021         Plan prepared 08/30/2025
Project No. H25-047          Cad File No. H25-047.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

.

Locus Map
1"=2,000'±

Keene
New Hampshire

Notes
1. THE BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS/ARE REFERENCED TO NAD83 NH STATE PLANE GRID, BASED

ON A STATIC GPS SURVEY PERFORMED ON OCTOBER 29, 2021 USING AN iG3S GNSS RECEIVER.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM RECORD DEEDS, SURVEYS
AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND DURING THE CURRENT FIELD SURVEY.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS FROM A COMBINATION OF AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY
HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2021 IN THE
DEVELOPED AREAS & LIDAR MAPPING OBTAINED FROM http://lidar.unh.edu/map. IN THE UNDEVELOPED
AREAS. THE VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD 88 OBTAINED BY THE GPS SURVEY DESCRIBED IN NOTE No.1.
CONTOUR INTERVAL IS TWO (2) FEET.

4. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM DATA OBTAINED
FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE LOCATIONS, PREVIOUS MAPS AND RECORDS OBTAINED FROM THE
CITY OF KEENE. THEIR EXISTENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF
ALL UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL
DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

5. JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS WERE DELINEATED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN, PLLC, DURING THE
MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2021, USING THE THREE PARAMETER APPROACH DESCRIBED IN TECHNICAL
MANUAL Y-87-1, THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS 1987 WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL AND
SUPPLEMENTED BY THE JANUARY 2012, REGIONAL SUPPLEMENT TO THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS
WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL: NORTHCENTRAL AND NORTHEAST REGION U.S. ARMY CORPS OF
ENGINEERS, V.2.

6. THE PARCEL SHOWN IS PARTIALLY LOCATED IN ZONES X, ZONE AE AND THE FEMA FLOODWAY. ZONE
AE AND THE FLOODWAY ARE CATEGORIZED AS BEING SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS. SEE FEMA
PANEL 33005C0254E EFFECTIVELY DATED 05/23/2006. THE BFE IS 514.7 NAVD88.

7. SOILS LINES AND TYPES SHOWN HEREON WERE OBTAINED FROM NRCS WEB SOIL SURVEY ONLINE
PROGRAM, SOIL SURVEY STAFF, NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE, UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, WEB SOIL SURVEY,  AVAILABLE ONLINE AT
HTTPS://WEBSOILSURVEY.SC.EGOV.USDA.GOV/.  ACCESSED NOVEMBER 1, 2021

HD

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED
BY ME OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR
TRAVERSE WITH A POSITION TOLERANCE OF 0.04 + 100 ppm THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE
ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY FOR RURAL AREAS AS REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1, "ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL SUPPORTING
THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF
DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON, INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE
FOUND.

Map
le A

ven
ueRoute 12

Summit Road

Park Avenue

Hastings Ave

Stonehouse

Lane

Plan References

REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY, LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED AUGUST 20, 2019, BY
CONTROL POINT ASSOCIATES (Digital file obtained from Control Point Associates)

2. SECTION 913 MAP 9 LOT 34, PHASE 1 AS-BUILT PLAN, TRINITY LUTHERAN SCHOOL, DATED MARCH 5, 2001, BY
T.F. MORAN (Cab.12 Dr.06 No.0082 CCRD)

3. SECTION 913 MAP 9 LOT 34, PHASE 3 SITE LAYOUT PLAN, TRINITY LUTHERAN SCHOOL, DATED SEPTEMBER 20,
1999, BY T.F. MORAN (Plan 003 Keene GIS)

4. PROPOSED SUBDIVISION PREPARED FOR KEDRC OF LANDS OF BLACKBIRD FIELDS REAL ESTATE TRUST, LAST
REVISED AUGUST 21, 1988; BY DAVID A. MANN, SVE ASSOCIATES (CAB.12 DR.04 NOS.20 & 21 CCRD)

5. TOPOGRAPHIC & BOUNDARY PLAT PREPARED FOR PEERLESS INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED AUGUST 24,
1987, BY DAVID A. MANN (CAB.09 DR.00 NOS.0096 & 97 CCRD)

6. BROOKSIDE CONDOMINIUMS, PROPERTY OF B.A. REALTY TRUST, DATED DECEMBER 1986, BY T & M SURVEYS
(Cab.08 Dr.00 No.0118 CCRD)

7. PROPOSED TWO LOT SUBDIVISION FOR CLINTON J. WILDER, DATED APRIL 1982, BY HERBERT E. RUSSELL
(Cab.04 Dr.00 No.0059 CCRD)

8. PLAN OF PROPOSED FEDERAL AID PRIMARY ABD FEDERAL AID URBAN PROJECT, NO. FU 013-1(7) NH PROJECT
No. P-3436, LAST REVISED MAY 26, 1966 (On file at NHDOT)

9. LAND OF JOHN E. & AMY L. COOK SURVEYED FOR THE PEERLESS INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED APRIL 1959,
BY R.K. PIPER (Pb.10 pG.57A CCRD)

10. PLAN OF PEERLESS INSURANCE CO. PROPERTY, KEENE, NH, DATED JANUARY 7, 1957, BY GEORGE G.
PHILBROOK (Pb.09 Pg.017 CCRD)

Symbol Legend

DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN STONE WALL

BARBED WIRE FENCEX

WOOD RAIL/STOCKADE/MESH FENCE
CHAIN LINK FENCE

TREE LINE
EDGE OF WATER

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EDGE OF GRAVEL

IRON PIN/PIPE
EDGE OF WETLANDS

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND
CRB SET

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

CCRD

123/456
[1-2-3]

CHESHIRE REGISTRY OF DEEDS

WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

WATER LINE
SEWER MANHOLE
MANHOLE
UTILITY POLE W/GUY
WIRES, OVERHEAD
LINES AND NUMBERS
LIGHT POLE
UNDETERMINED UTILITY BOX

100 0 50 100 200 400

1" = 100'

Graphic Scale

5/8" REBAR WITH ALUMINUM CAPCRB

Zoning Districts 

MD (Medium Density)

MAX HEIGHT 35'
LOT SIZE 8,000 SF
FRONTAGE 50'

BUILDING SETBACKS
FRONT 15'
SIDE 10'
REAR 15'

MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 45%
MAX IMPERMEABLE COVERAGE 60%

46



NV:510.77
12"HDPE

INV:509.60
12"CMP

[227-004]
PRINCETON KEENE TWO LLC

1115 Westford Street
Lowell, MA 01851

3127/958

[227-005]
MILESTONE FUNERAL FUNERAL SERVICES OF NH LLC

86 Main Street
Auburn, ME 04210-5799

3290/1013

[227-024]
KEENE CHURCH OF THE NAZARENE

55 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

1165/289

[227-023]
KEENE CHURCH OF THE NAZARENE

832/492

[227-021]
CEDARCREST INC

91 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

2966/92

[227-020]
CEDARCREST FOUNDATI

91 Maple Ave
Keene, NH 03431

1677/574

Lot 2
48.6 Acres ±

2,119,937 Sq.Ft.±
Remainder

1" Pipe
Down 6"

1" Pipe
Flush

1" Pipe
Up 6"

BUILDING
RESTRICTION
AREA 636/570

Transmission
Easement
641/485 & 489
per Plan Ref No 1

0

52
0

Lot 1
1.28 Acres ±

55,881 Sq.Ft. ±

CRB

CRB

CRB

CRB's

[227-022]
PARKWOOD REALTY TRUST

681 Park Ave
Keene, NH 03431

2051/574

518

516518

516

51
6

51
4

51
2

512

514

51
6

518

30' SURFACE
WATER
BUFFER LINE

100 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

500 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

500 YEAR
FLOOD LINE

BYREVISIONDATENO.

Two Lot Subdivision Plan

LAND OF

Cheshire Medical Center
located at

Tax Map 227  Lot 06
62 Maple Avenue, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

Book 3164, Page 1025

Surveyed 11/2021         Plan prepared 11/14/2025
Project No. H25-047          Cad File No. H25-047.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

.

Locus Map
1"=2,000'±

Keene
New Hampshire

Notes
1. THE BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS/ARE REFERENCED TO NAD83 NH STATE PLANE GRID, BASED

ON A STATIC GPS SURVEY PERFORMED ON OCTOBER 29, 2021 USING AN iG3S GNSS RECEIVER.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM RECORD DEEDS, SURVEYS
AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE FOUND DURING THE CURRENT FIELD SURVEY.

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS FROM A COMBINATION OF AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY
HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN, PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2021 IN THE
DEVELOPED AREAS & LIDAR MAPPING OBTAINED FROM http://lidar.unh.edu/map. IN THE UNDEVELOPED
AREAS. THE VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD 88 OBTAINED BY THE GPS SURVEY DESCRIBED IN NOTE No.1.
CONTOUR INTERVAL IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM DATA OBTAINED
FROM FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE LOCATIONS, PREVIOUS MAPS AND RECORDS OBTAINED FROM THE
CITY OF KEENE. THEIR EXISTENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER
UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE EXISTENCE OF WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF
ALL UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES MUST BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL
DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

5. JURISDICTIONAL WETLANDS WERE DELINEATED BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN, PLLC, DURING THE
MONTH OF NOVEMBER 2021, USING THE THREE PARAMETER APPROACH DESCRIBED IN TECHNICAL
MANUAL Y-87-1, THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS 1987 WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL AND
SUPPLEMENTED BY THE JANUARY 2012, REGIONAL SUPPLEMENT TO THE CORPS OF ENGINEERS
WETLAND DELINEATION MANUAL: NORTHCENTRAL AND NORTHEAST REGION U.S. ARMY CORPS OF
ENGINEERS, V.2.

6. THE PARCEL SHOWN IS PARTIALLY LOCATED IN ZONES X, ZONE AE AND THE FEMA FLOODWAY. ZONE
AE AND THE FLOODWAY ARE CATEGORIZED AS BEING SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS. SEE FEMA
PANEL 33005C0254E EFFECTIVELY DATED 05/23/2006. THE BFE IS 514.7 NAVD88.

7. SOILS LINES AND TYPES SHOWN HEREON WERE OBTAINED FROM NRCS WEB SOIL SURVEY ONLINE
PROGRAM, SOIL SURVEY STAFF, NATURAL RESOURCES CONSERVATION SERVICE, UNITED STATES
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE, WEB SOIL SURVEY,  AVAILABLE ONLINE AT
HTTPS://WEBSOILSURVEY.SC.EGOV.USDA.GOV/.  ACCESSED NOVEMBER 1, 2021.

8. ANY FUTURE DEVELOPMENT WITHIN THE SURFACE WATER BUFFER OR SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS
MAY REQUIRE THE SUBMITTAL OF A SURFACE WATER PROTECTION CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT AND/OR A
FLOODPLAIN DEVELOPMENT PERMIT TO THE CITY OF KEENE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT.

HD

Zoning Districts 

MD (Medium Density)

MAX HEIGHT 35'
LOT SIZE 8,000 SF
FRONTAGE 50'

BUILDING SETBACKS
FRONT 15'
SIDE 10'
REAR 15'

MAX BUILDING COVERAGE 45%
MAX IMPERMEABLE COVERAGE 60%

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED
BY ME OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR
TRAVERSE WITH A POSITION TOLERANCE OF 0.04 + 100 ppm THAT MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE
ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY FOR RURAL AREAS AS REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW
HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1, "ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF CONTROL SUPPORTING
THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF
DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON, INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL EVIDENCE
FOUND.

Map
le A

ven
ueRoute 12

Summit Road

Park Avenue

Hastings Ave

Stonehouse

Lane

Plan References

REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. ALTA/NSPS LAND TITLE SURVEY, LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED AUGUST 20, 2019, BY
CONTROL POINT ASSOCIATES (Digital file obtained from Control Point Associates)

2. SECTION 913 MAP 9 LOT 34, PHASE 1 AS-BUILT PLAN, TRINITY LUTHERAN SCHOOL, DATED MARCH 5, 2001, BY
T.F. MORAN (Cab.12 Dr.06 No.0082 CCRD)

3. SECTION 913 MAP 9 LOT 34, PHASE 3 SITE LAYOUT PLAN, TRINITY LUTHERAN SCHOOL, DATED SEPTEMBER 20,
1999, BY T.F. MORAN (Plan 003 Keene GIS)

4. PROPOSED SUBDIVISION PREPARED FOR KEDRC OF LANDS OF BLACKBIRD FIELDS REAL ESTATE TRUST, LAST
REVISED AUGUST 21, 1988; BY DAVID A. MANN, SVE ASSOCIATES (CAB.12 DR.04 NOS.20 & 21 CCRD)

5. TOPOGRAPHIC & BOUNDARY PLAT PREPARED FOR PEERLESS INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED AUGUST 24,
1987, BY DAVID A. MANN (CAB.09 DR.00 NOS.0096 & 97 CCRD)

6. BROOKSIDE CONDOMINIUMS, PROPERTY OF B.A. REALTY TRUST, DATED DECEMBER 1986, BY T & M SURVEYS
(Cab.08 Dr.00 No.0118 CCRD)

7. PROPOSED TWO LOT SUBDIVISION FOR CLINTON J. WILDER, DATED APRIL 1982, BY HERBERT E. RUSSELL
(Cab.04 Dr.00 No.0059 CCRD)

8. PLAN OF PROPOSED FEDERAL AID PRIMARY ABD FEDERAL AID URBAN PROJECT, NO. FU 013-1(7) NH PROJECT
No. P-3436, LAST REVISED MAY 26, 1966 (On file at NHDOT)

9. LAND OF JOHN E. & AMY L. COOK SURVEYED FOR THE PEERLESS INSURANCE COMPANY, DATED APRIL 1959,
BY R.K. PIPER (Pb.10 pG.57A CCRD)

10. PLAN OF PEERLESS INSURANCE CO. PROPERTY, KEENE, NH, DATED JANUARY 7, 1957, BY GEORGE G.
PHILBROOK (Pb.09 Pg.017 CCRD)

Symbol Legend

DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN STONE WALL

BARBED WIRE FENCEX

WOOD RAIL/STOCKADE/MESH FENCE
CHAIN LINK FENCE

TREE LINE
EDGE OF WATER

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EDGE OF GRAVEL

IRON PIN/PIPE
EDGE OF WETLANDS

STONE/CONCRETE BOUND

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

CCRD

123/456
[1-2-3]

CHESHIRE REGISTRY OF DEEDS

WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

WATER LINE
SEWER MANHOLE
MANHOLE
UTILITY POLE W/GUY
WIRES, OVERHEAD
LINES AND NUMBERS
LIGHT POLE
UNDETERMINED UTILITY BOX

 BY      CHAIRMAN
 AND       SECRETARY
 ON                                    .

APPROVED BY THE
KEENE PLANNING BOARD

Owner Certification
I CERTIFY THAT I/WE AM/ARE THE CURRENT OWNER(S) OF THE
TRACTS SHOWN HEREON AND THAT I APPROVE OF THE
SUBDIVISION.

___________________________________
            DATE

___________________________________
           DATE

50 0 25 50 100 200

1" = 50'

Graphic Scale

CRB SET
5/8" REBAR WITH ALUMINUM CAPCRB

RJHRevisions per Staff Comments1 12/03/25

47



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2025-28–TWO LOT SUBDIVISION, 98 PEG SHOP RD 
 
Request: Applicant DiBernardo Associates, on behalf of owners Mitchell & Erika Greenwald, 
proposes to subdivide the ~33-ac lot located at 98 Peg Shop Rd (TMP# 232-022-000) into two 
lots ~28-ac and ~5-ac in size. The property is in the Rural District. 
 
Background: 
The subject parcel is a 33.29-ac 
single-family lot located on the 
north side of Peg Shop Rd, ~0.5 
miles northeast of Jordan Rd. The 
southern end of the property is 
developed with a single-family 
residence and accessory 
structures.  
 
The parcel is characterized by 
slopes with the low point near Peg 
Shop Rd, steepening to the north. A 
few pockets of wetlands are 
delineated in the northeast corner 
of the lot and a 250-ft-wide 
National Grid Utility easement runs 
along the length of the east 
property boundary. The proposal is 
to subdivide the parcel to create a new residential building lot with frontage on Peg Shop Road.  
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 
Staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposal does not appear to have the potential 
for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board should make a final determination as to 
whether the proposal could have the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 
The applicant requests exemptions from submitting a drainage report, traffic analysis, and a soil 
analysis. After reviewing these requests, Planning Staff recommend that the Board grant the 
requested waivers and accept the application as “complete.” 
 
 

Application Analysis 
 
20.2.1 – LOTS: The proposed subdivision would create a new, ~5-ac residential building lot with 
~200 feet of frontage. The parent parcel will continue to conform with all zoning regulations with 
a lot size of ~28.3-ac and ~938 feet of frontage on a Class V Road. The Rural District requires 50 
feet of frontage and a minimum lot size of 2 acres. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.2.2 – CHARACTER OF LAND FOR SUBDIVISION: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
proposed lot is suitable for development and will not pose a danger due to hazardous conditions. 
Development is likely to occur closer to Peg Shop Road due to the steep topography to the rear 
of the lot. It appears that this standard has been met. 

Fig 1: 98 Peg Shop Rd outlined in yellow 

48



STAFF REPORT 
 

20.3.2 – SCATTERED OR PREMATURE DEVELOPMENT: The application proposes to create a 
single building lot on a City-maintained class V road in an existing rural residential neighborhood. 
The development potential of the lot, which could be developed as a single family home with or 
without an accessory dwelling unit (ADU), is such that the proposal is unlikely to create any 
hardship for City services. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.2.4 – PRESERVATION OF EXISTING FEATURES: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
proposed lot design takes existing features into consideration by requiring development to be 
located closer to the road. Steep slopes and wetlands located to the rear of the lot will not be able 
to be impacted by development due to the lot narrowing to the north. This will ensure these natural 
features are maintained. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.2.5 – MONUMENTATION: The applicant proposes to install 5/8” diameter iron rods at all points 
shown on the plan. A condition of approval related to the installation of lot monuments and their 
inspection, or financial security to be submitted in lieu of setting the pins is included in the motion 
language below. It appears that this standard has been met. 
   
20.2.6 – SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREAS: The subject property is not located within any special 
flood hazard area. This standard is not applicable. 
 
20.2.7 – FIRE PROTECTION & WATER SUPPLY: The applicant states in their narrative that the 
proposed subdivision has frontage on a class V road that will allow for reasonable access for 
emergency vehicle access. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
20.2.8 – UTILITIES: The proposed lot will utilize private well and septic utilities as there is no 
public water or sewer service on Peg Shop Road. Test pits have been conducted that demonstrate 
suitable soils for a septic system. It appears that this standard has been met. 
 
Recommended Motion:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

“Approve PB-2025-28 as shown on the plan set identified as “Plan Showing Subdivision of 
Property of Mitchell H. Greenwald Revocable Trust, Erika Greenwald Revocable Trust” 
prepared by DiBernardo Associates, LLC at 1 inch = 100 feet on September 24, 2025, and last 
revised on December 3, 2025 with the following conditions prior to final approval and 
signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair: 

1. Owner’s signature appears on all sheets of the final plan set. 

2. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a PDF version of 
the final plan set. 

3. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51 made out to the City of Keene to cover the cost 
of recording fees. 

4. Installation and inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their 
designee, or in lieu of this, the submittal of a security to cover the cost of the installation 
of these monuments. 

 

49



50



Greenwald Subdivision Narrative
98 Peg Shop Road

Keene, NH

Mitchell and Erika Greenwald live at 98 Peg Shop Road in Keene, NH and are subdividing
their parcel (232-022-000-000) into two lots.  Their parcel currently consists of 33.29 acres,
by survey, and are subdividing o  a 5 acres lot east of their existing house.  The existing and
proposed use is and will be residential. The vacant 5-acre lot has 200.05 feet of frontage on
Peg Shop Road, which is a class V town highway. The access point will be through a barway
in the stonewall near pole number 26/39.  The 5-acre lot slopes up as you traverse north,
but suitable soils were found on the southern part of the lot that will support a Septic
System.

This proposal complies with the Site Development Standards in Article 21 of the LDC
because it does not present an unsafe development and the development of the land is
appropriate for available public and private facilities. Due to the fact that this proposal is
for a two-lot subdivision, it is ensuring that this development will maintain and enhance
quality of life, while not imposing unreasonable costs upon the city.

This proposal complies with the Subdivision Regulations Article 20 of LDC because it
conforms to the Zoning Regulations and dimensional requirements for the Rural District.

20.2 Review Standards

20.2.1
(A) The two lots shown on the subdivision plan meet the minimum zoning requirements for
the Rural District.
(B) Both Lots have frontage on Peg Shop Road which is Class V City maintained road.
(B-1) Both Lots exceed the 50 foot minimum frontage requirement.
(C) Peg Shop Road is a Class V City Maintained Road.

20.2.2 – The proposed lots are of such a character that they do not pose a danger due to
hazardous conditions. Both lots are easily accessible by emergency and City vehicles and
personnel via Peg Shop Road.

20.2.3 – The Subdivision proposal does not constitute a scattered or premature subdivision
and will not create hardships on the City’s services.

51



20.2.4 – The subdivision proposal does consider existing features such as steep slopes and
wetlands and the proposal does not comprise those features. The development of the
parcel will be near the road as the lot narrows as it traverses north making it unable to
develop the northern part of the parcel, therefore, preserving existing natural features.

20.2.5 – Permanent 5/8” diameter iron rods with identification number “963” will be
installed where shown on the plan.

20.2.6 – The subdivision proposal is outside of any Special Flood Hazard Areas as shown
on the Federal Insurance Rate Maps.

20.2.7 – The Subdivision proposal utilizes an existing Class V road (Peg Shop Road) for
access making for easy emergency vehicle access.

20.2.8 – The Subdivision proposal will have private Water and Septic systems due to the
lack of City Water and Sewer on Peg Shop Road.

52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



PB-2025-29 – MAJOR SITE PLAN, COTTAGE COURT CUP, & SURFACE WATER PROTECTION 
CUP – ELMSIDE DEVELOPMENT, 454 ELM ST 

 
Request: 

Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, on behalf of owners Paul Chester & Gail Marie 
Dubriske, proposes to redevelop the property at 454 Elm St (TMP# 521-004-000) into a Cottage 
Court Development with 18 single-family dwellings. A surface water protection CUP is requested 
for ~1,435-sf of impact within the 30-foot wetland buffer. The parcel is ~2.3 ac in size and is in 
the Low-Density District.   

 
Background: 

The subject property is an ~2.3-acre lot located on Elm St directly adjacent to Route 9 and across 
from the entrance to Timberlane Dr (Figure 1). The property is developed with an historic single-
family residence, once home to the Sadoques Family, and is located ~0.1 mi (650 ft) northwest 
of Fuller School. The rear portion of the lot, which was formerly part of the Right-of-Way for the 
Franklin Pierce Highway, is forested with a small area of wetlands. Historic stone walls delineate 
portions of the rear property boundaries. 
 
The applicant proposes to demolish the existing house and redevelop the property as a cottage 
court condominium development with 18 single family dwellings. A Surface Water Protection CUP 
is requested to reduce the wetland buffer from 30 feet to 10 feet. The application has been 
referred to the Conservation Commission for review and recommendation at their December 15 
meeting. Any recommendations from the Commission will be shared with the Planning Board at 
the December 22 meeting. 

 

Figure 1: Image of the property and proposed development in relation to nearby roads, provided by the 
applicant.  

 

64



Determination of Regional Impact: 

Staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposal does not appear to have the potential 
for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The Board should make a final determination as to 
whether the proposal could have the potential for regional impact. 
 

Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting separate existing and proposed 
subdivision plans and all technical reports. After reviewing these requests, Planning Staff 
recommend that the Board grant the requested exemptions and accept the application as 
“complete.” 
 

Application Analysis:    
 
Surface Water Protection Standards (Section 11.6 of the LDC) 

2.A-B Buffer Encroachment: The proposed buffer encroachment includes grading within the 30-
ft wetland buffer for the foundation of dwelling unit 9 and a level spreader. The estimated 
total area of impact to the 30-foot buffer is 1, 435 sf (no impact is proposed to the 10-foot 
buffer). The applicant notes that the intent is to maximize the development of the site 
under the Cottage Court Development Overlay. Avoiding or reducing grading within the 30-
foot buffer would reduce the number of units that could be developed.  

2.C Surface Water Impacts: The applicant states in their narrative that there are no direct 
impacts to the surface water system with this proposal. No information is provided in the 
application regarding the soils, vegetation, or wildlife habitat on the site; however, based 
on the NH Wildlife Action Plan, this site is not located in a Tier 1 (highest ranked habitat 
in NH), Tier 2 (highest ranked habitat in biological region), or Tier 3 (supporting landscape) 
area. The habitat type is listed as “Developed Impervious” and “Developed or Barren land.”  

2.D-E Surface Water Buffer: The applicant is 
seeking a buffer reduction on the property 
from 30 ft to 10 ft and proposes to clear an 
area of existing vegetation within the 30-
foot buffer to accommodate grading and 
the installation of a level spreader (Figure 
2). The applicant states that this system 
will mitigate stormwater impacts on the 
wetland. They also note that they consider 
this to be a minor impact and believe that 
the stormwater management system is an 
extraordinary measure for surface water 
mitigation. The Board will need to 
determine if the proposal meets the 
requirement for a property-wide surface 
water protection buffer reduction and 
should consider any recommendations 
from the Conservation Commission in making this determination. 

Figure 2: Excerpt from the proposed grading & 
drainage plan that shows the 30-foot wetland 
buffer impact area, highlighted in red. 

65



Cottage Court Standards (Section 17.5 of the LDC) 

3.A Dwelling Unit Sizes: The application proposes three unit types; types 1 & 2 are proposed 
to be 1,365 SF gfa and type 3 is proposed to be 895 sf gfa. This gives the development a 
site-wide average of 1,248 sf gfa. All three building types have a footprint of 895 SF. It 
appears that this standard has been met. 

3.B Parking: The applicant states in their narrative that there are no shard parking areas 
proposed with this development. Each unit will have enough space in their driveway for 
one vehicle as well as enough space in the garage for an additional vehicle. It appears that 
this standard has been met. 

3.C Building Separation: The applicant states in their narrative that all buildings on the 
proposed development have been separated to meet appliable building and fire codes. 
The two closest buildings in the development are 10 ft apart. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

3.D Driveways: The individual unit driveways are proposed to be 9 ft wide and 18 ft long. Turn 
arounds are provided where needed so that vehicles are able to reorient as needed to 
better navigate the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

3.E Internal Roads: The shared private driveway used to circulate through the site is proposed 
to be 20 ft wide, with a bump out to 28 ft wide to accommodate the shared mailbox area. 
This area comes at the request of the Post Office and is located near the entrance to the 
development. The common driveway is proposed to be constructed to City standards and 
will use cape cod style curbing. A hammerhead turn around is proposed to facilitate the 
navigation of larger and emergency vehicles. A truck turning plan has been submitted that 
shows a City fire truck and delivery vehicle are able to safely navigate the site. It appears 
that this standard has been met. 

3.F Screening: The applicant states in their narrative that a vegetated buffer is proposed along 
the frontage of the development on Elm St. The existing vegetation along the northern 
property line will be maintained and an existing fence along the southern property line will 
also be maintained. Since the development is single-family dwellings in a neighborhood 
with a predominantly single-family development pattern, additional screening is not 
required. It appears that this standard has been met. 

Site Development Standards 

21.2 Drainage: The applicant states in their narrative that the site is designed to direct 
stormwater away from buildings and off roadways. Detention basins are proposed along 
Elm St and a level spreader is proposed on the southwestern corner of the property. Catch 
basins are proposed along the driveway that drain to the detention basins. The submitted 
drainage report states that the proposed stormwater management system has been 
designed for the 2 Year, 10 Year, 25 Year, and 50 Year storm events. The report concludes 
that the proposed development will not increase in the peak rates of runoff leaving the 
site. It appears that this standard has been met.  

66



21.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The applicant states in their narrative that the development 
proposes to utilize a stabilized construction entrance, silt fencing, and catch basin silt 
socks during construction. Slopes will be permanently stabilized with vegetation, stone 
rip-rap, stone check damns, and erosion control matting. Staff recommend a condition of 
approval related to the inspection of temporary erosion control measures prior to 
construction. This standard appears to be met. 

21.4 Snow Storage & Removal: The applicant states in their narrative that snow will be stored 
on site along the driveway and adjacent to the residential drives. Snow storage areas are 
identified adjacent to the main entrance, next to unit 1, and along the end of the driveway 
adjacent to unit 13. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.5 Landscaping: The Landscape Plan shows the installation of a selection of shrubs and 
trees along the Elm St frontage. The narrative also notes that the future owners of the 
condo units will be able to install their own landscaping on their sub-parcels. The proposed 
landscaping includes nine (9) Rhododendrons, six (6) Dogwood shrubs, eight (8) 
Winterberry shrubs, four (4) Hawthorn trees, and one (1) Red Maple tree. The proposal 
also includes a native northeast pollinator wildflower seed mix near the wetland area. A 
condition of approval related to a financial security for the proposed landscaping is 
included in the suggested motion language. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.6 Screening: The applicant states in their narrative that existing trees along the perimeter of 
the development will be maintained where possible for natural screening from the road. 
The transformers in the development will be screened by shrubs. Additional screening is 
proposed along Elm St for the stormwater management areas and the entire site. There 
are existing stockade fences along the north and south property lines that will be 
maintained. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.7 Lighting: The Lighting Plan shows the installation of full cutoff wall mounted light fixtures 
on the garage of each unit. The proposed lights will have a color temperature of 3000 and 
a color rendering index (CRI) of 90. The development does not propose any driveway 
lighting or parking lot lighting. It appears that this standard is met. 

21.8 Sewer & Water: The development will be served by municipal water and sewer. New mains 
will be installed on the property and then transferred to the City via easements. Domestic 
lines will be run to each individual unit. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.9 Traffic & Access Management: A single street access point is proposed near the center 
of the frontage, north of the Timberlane Dr intersection. The main drive will be a 20 ft wide 
driveway that is approximately 300 ft long and ends in a 50 ft long hammerhead turn 
around. Additional driveway spurs are proposed to provide access to individual units with 
turn-round space to allow vehicles to orient to leave the site. 

The application includes ITE Traffic Manual trip generation estimates for the proposed 
development. The units are considered single-family dwellings with an estimated weekday 
AM peak hour of 14 vehicle trips and an estimated weekday PM peak hour of 18 vehicle 
trips. The estimated traffic generation falls below the threshold of 50 trips per peak hour 
or 100 trips per day that would require a full traffic study, and the development is not 

67



expected to diminish the capacity or safety of Elm St. It appears that this standard has 
been met. 

21.10 Filling & Excavation: The applicant states in their narrative that the development will 
require both filling and excavation on different portions of the site. Material on-site will be 
utilized whenever possible. Additional select material will need to be brought on site and 
stockpiled as needed. A truck route plan is not required as the project site has direct 
access from Court St via Elm St. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: The applicant states in their narrative that there is no 
proposed impact to surface waters located on the property. There is a wetland system 
located on the southwestern corner of the property, adjacent to unit 9. The applicant has 
submitted a Surface Water Conditional Use Permit to reduce the protection buffer from 
30 ft to 10 ft. The proposal requires grading and the installation of stormwater 
management systems within the 30 ft buffer area. The Board will need to decide whether 
to grant the reduction in the surface water buffer. 

21.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that there are no 
hazardous or toxic materials associated with this development. This standard has been 
met. 

21.13  Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed development will generate 
an amount of noise typical with a residential development. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

21.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states in their narrative that the units are 
proposed to be two- and three-bedroom single-family residential dwellings of various 
heights ranging from 32.5 ft to just under 22 ft. The colors will be “neutral tones that fit in 
with the surrounding neighborhoods.” The applicant further states that the homes are 
designed to fit into the “cottage style” and include two-story Cape, drive-under garage 
Cape, and one-story Ranch style architecture (Figure 3). Utilizing the Cottage Court CUP 
architectural guidelines, the Board will need to determine if this standard has been met. 

 

 

Figure 3. Image of the three architectural styles proposed, including a Cape-style unit (left), a Cape with 
garage under (middle), and a ranch style unit (right).  

 

68



Recommended Motion:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

“Approve PB-2025-29 as shown on the plan set identified as “Elmside Cottage Court Housing” 
prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants, PLLC at 1 inch = 30 feet on November 14, 2025 and last 
revised on December 2, 2025 with the following conditions: 

  

1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 

conditions shall be met: 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the title page, condo site plan, and master site plan. 

b. Submittal of five (5) full sized paper copies of the plan set, including elevations, 

and a digital copy of the final plan set. 

c. Submittal of a security in a form and amount acceptable to the Community 

Development Director to cover the cost of landscaping, sediment and erosion 

control measures, and “as built” plans. 

d. Submittal of draft written documentation of the required utility easements and any 

other necessary legal instruments required for this application, which shall be 

subject to review by the City Attorney. 

  

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the final plans by the Planning Board Chair, 

the following conditions shall be met: 

a. Prior to the commencement of site work, the Community Development Department 

shall be notified when all erosion control measures have been installed, and the 30 

ft surface water buffer is flagged by a surveyor licensed in the state of NH. 

Community Development staff shall inspect the erosion control measures and 

wetland flagging to ensure compliance with the approved plans and all City of 

Keene regulations. 

b. Submittal of recorded utility easements and any other legal instruments necessary 

for this application to the Community Development Department. 

c. The applicant shall obtain final acceptance of the new utilities from the Keene City 

Council following the completion of all infrastructure construction. 

d. Following the initial installation of plantings, the Community Development 

Department shall be contacted to perform an initial landscaping inspection to 

ensure compliance with the approved landscaping plan and all City of Keene 

regulations. 

e. One year after the installation of landscaping, the Community Development 

Department should be contacted to perform a final landscaping inspection to 

ensure that all plantings are in good health.” 

 

69



 

 

 

P a g e  |  1  

 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
 
DATE:   December 18, 2025 
 
SUBJECT: Conservation Commission Recommendations for PB-2025-29 and 

Modifications Proposed by the Applicant 

Recommendation:  

For your consideration during Board deliberation of application PB-2025-29. 

Background: 

The Conservation Commission conducted a site visit and reviewed the application for PB-2025-
29 for an 18-unit Cottage Court development, Major Site Plan, and Surface Water Protection 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP) at 454 Elm Street on Monday, December 15. The Commission 
members heard a presentation from the applicant and discussed the potential impacts to a 
wetland located on the rear of the property.  
 
Questions and Concerns that were raised by Commission members include: 

• Unanimous concerns regarding the requested buffer reduction from 30 feet to 10 feet 
for the entire property (applicant has revised proposal so that a buffer reduction is no 
longer requested. Instead, they are requesting a CUP for ~1,400 sf of buffer impact.) 

• Potential runoff issues during large storm events (addressed by applicant – runoff will 
be handled by the proposed stormwater design).  

• Snow storage at the end of the driveway may cause snowmelt containing silt and road 
salt to drain into the wetland area (applicant’s response was that there is a guardrail at 
the end of the driveway that will help mitigate this concern). 

• Ongoing maintenance and management of the stormwater system (applicant noted that 
this would be done by the homeowners’ association). 

• The fact that all impacts to the wetland could be avoided by reducing the number of 
housing units. 

• Lack of plantings and trees throughout the interior of the development (at the 
suggestion of the Commission, the applicant has added native plantings throughout, as 
shown on the revised Landscaping Plan attached to this memo).  

Ultimately, the Commission made two motions. The first was to recommend that the design be 
modified to avoid any impact to the 30 ft surface water buffer (passed 6-1). The second was to 
recommend that the southwest slope of the buffer area be replanted with native, pollinator-
friendly shrubs and seed mix, and that small street trees be planted throughout the 
development to help mitigate impacts to the city stormwater system (passed unanimously).  

70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115


	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA
	Monday, December 22, 2025  6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	A. AGENDA ITEMS
	1) Call to Order – Roll Call
	2) Minutes of Previous Meeting – November 24, 2025
	3) Adoption of the 2026 Meeting Schedule
	December_Final Approval Recommendations Memo.pdf
	MEMORANDUM

	31 Robbins Rd Street Access Appeal_MINI PACKET.pdf
	‎K:\Boards\PLANNING\Scanned Packets\2025_packets\12 - December\Appeal of Denied Driveway Exception_31 Robbins Rd_Staff Report.pdf‎
	‎K:\Boards\PLANNING\Scanned Packets\2025_packets\12 - December\31 Robbins Rd Street Access Appeal_MINI PACKET WITH NO SR.pdf‎

	PB-2025-28_MINI PACKET.pdf
	‎K:\Boards\PLANNING\Scanned Packets\2025_packets\12 - December\PB-2025-28_98 Peg Shop Rd_Two Lot Subdivision_Staff Report.pdf‎
	‎K:\Boards\PLANNING\Scanned Packets\2025_packets\12 - December\PB-2025-28_MINI PACKET WITH NO SR.pdf‎




